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a relatively nominal stockholder, not because 
of any coercive power that stockholder could 
wield over the board’s ability to independently 
decide whether or not to approve the merger, 
but because of pre-existing contractual obliga-
tions with that stockholder that constrain the 
business or strategic options available to the 
corporation. Plaintiffs have cited no legal au-
thority for that novel proposition, and I decline 
to create such a rule.”).

32. El Paso, 41 A.3d at 449 (“Rather, the plaintiffs 
want an odd mixture of mandatory injunctive 
relief whereby I affirmatively permit El Paso to 
shop itself in parts or in whole . . ., in contra-
vention of the no-shop provision of the Merger 
Agreement, and allow El Paso to terminate the 
Merger Agreement on grounds not permitted 
by the Merger Agreement and without paying 
the termination fee set forth in the Merger 
Agreement, but then to lift the injunction and 
then force Kinder Morgan to consummate the 
Merger ‘if no superior transactions emerge.’ 
That is not a traditional negative injunction 
that can be done without an evidentiary hear-
ing or undisputed facts.”) (footnote omitted).

33. See In re Toys “R” Us, Inc. S’holder Litig., 877 
A.2d 975, at 1022-23 (Del. Ch. 2005) (refusing 
to “blue-pencil” provisions in a merger agree-
ment “before a trial has even been held,” not-
ing that “[t]o grant that sort of mandatory 
relief would … be inappropriate on disputed 
facts, and plaintiffs who seek such relief should 
move promptly, not for a preliminary injunc-
tion hearing, but for an expedited trial”).

34. In re Del Monte Foods Co. S’holders Litig., 25 
A.3d 813 (Del. Ch. 2011).

35. Winshall v. Viacom Int’l, Inc., 55 A.3d 629, 635 
n.23 (Del. Ch. 2011).
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On November 7, 2014, the Department of Jus-
tice (DOJ) required particleboard competitors 
Flakeboard America Limited (Flakeboard) and 
SierraPine to pay $5 million in penalties and to 
institute a ten-year antitrust compliance program 
because of inappropriate pre-closing conduct.2 
DOJ’s allegations centered on three things: (1) the 
parties’ discussions and conduct relating to the 
planned closure of SierraPine’s mill in Springfield, 
Oregon; (2) the movement of customers from the 
Springfield mill to Flakeboard; and (3) the sharing 
of SierraPine’s customer and pricing information.

The Alleged “Gun Jumping”
The Hart-Scott-Rodino Act of 1976 (HSR 

Act),3 if applicable, requires that transacting par-
ties obey a mandatory pre-closing waiting period. 
This waiting period seeks to preserve competition 
between the parties while the antitrust enforce-
ment agencies review the proposed transaction. If 
the merging parties prematurely transfer “opera-
tional control” of the target, they are subject to a 
fine of $16,000 for each day they are in violation 
of the HSR Act. In addition, the Sherman Act pro-
hibits pre-closing coordination between competi-
tors regarding price, output, or other restraints of 
trade.4 Pre-closing violations of the HSR Act and 
Sherman Act are known as “gun jumping.”
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On January 13, 2014, Flakeboard and SierraP-
ine signed an asset purchase agreement (APA) for 
the acquisition of three SierraPine mills. The APA 
included a provision that required SierraPine to 
close its Springfield mill shortly before closing the 
deal, but after receiving HSR approval. However, 
an unexpected labor issue at the Springfield mill 
that arose days after announcing the proposed 
transaction caused SierraPine to discuss with 
Flakeboard the implications of the labor issue on 
the mill’s closure. Following that discussion, Sier-
raPine announced the closure of the mill on Feb-
ruary 2, eleven days into the HSR waiting period.

Because the mill was closing, the parties de-
cided to refer SierraPine’s Springfield mill custom-
ers to Flakeboard. To do so, SierraPine shared 
its customer list, including products and volume 
purchased by customer, with Flakeboard’s sales 
team and directed its sales employees to notify 
the Springfield mill’s customers that Flakeboard 
wanted their business and would match Sierra-
Pine’s prices. Flakeboard requested that Sierra-
Pine delay the mill closure announcement until 
Flakeboard could better position its sales team 
to contact SierraPine’s Springfield mill customers. 
Finally, at the request of Flakeboard, SierraPine 
assured certain sales representatives employment 
at Flakeboard.

Months later, in September 2014, Flakeboard 
and SierraPine abandoned the transaction after 
DOJ expressed antitrust concerns regarding the 
acquisition’s potential anticompetitive effects on 
medium-density fiberboard production.

Matters grew worse, however, when DOJ ini-
tiated a gun jumping investigation and enforce-
ment action, which resulted in a settlement that 
included $5 million in total penalties. DOJ re-
quired Flakeboard to disgorge $1.15 million in 
profits earned from the inappropriate pre-closing 
coordination with SierraPine,5 declaring that 
“disgorgement will deter Flakeboard and others 
from participating in anticompetitive conduct in 
the context of a pending transaction, regardless 
of whether the transaction is subject to the HSR 
Act.”6 The settlement also imposed $3.8 million 
($1.9 million for each company) in civil penalties 
for violating the HSR Act. Finally, DOJ required 
both companies to, for a period of ten years, ad-

here to certain conduct restrictions, institute an 
antitrust compliance program, and appoint an 
Antitrust Compliance Officer.

Until Closing, Merging Parties Must 
Operate Independently

Transaction agreements typically contain pro-
visions governing both parties’ conduct between 
signing and closing.7 Where the antitrust laws 
draw the line on pre-closing coordination is not 
always clear. Here, DOJ’s Proposed Final Judg-
ment prohibits the defendants from engaging in 
two categories of pre-closing activities:

• First, the parties may not include provisions in 
transaction agreements, or coordinate in ways, 
that affect price or output, or that allocate 
markets or customers for competing products.

• Second, the parties may not disclose or seek 
the disclosure of information about customers, 
prices, or output for any competing products 
unless the information is publicly available or 
being shared in due diligence. Even in the con-
text of due diligence, the information shared 
must be reasonably related to facilitating the 
transaction and covered by a non-disclosure 
agreement that (1) limits the information’s use 
to due diligence and (2) prohibits disclosure to 
those responsible for the marketing, pricing, 
or sales of competing products.

DOJ’s Proposed Final Judgment also identified 
pre-closing conduct in which the parties are per-
mitted to engage. Specifically, the Proposed Final 
Judgment permits the parties to include provi-
sions in transaction agreements that require the 
parties to (1) continue operating in the ordinary 
course of business and (2) forego conduct that 
would cause a material adverse change to the 
value of the target assets.

The period between signing and closing, by ne-
cessity, involves regular communication and co-
ordination between the buyer and the target. But, 
as demonstrated in this case, certain conduct will 
be judged to run afoul of the antitrust laws. Pre-
closing communication and conduct as well as 
agreement provisions should be carefully scruti-
nized for potential antitrust implications. As DOJ 
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made clear for Flakeboard and SierraPine, parties 
that cross the line will suffer harsh penalties.

NOTES
1. Special thanks to Matthew Joseph, Antitrust and 

Competition Law Clerk, for his valuable assis-
tance in the research and drafting of this article.

2. United States v. Flakeboard Am. Ltd., No. 3:14-
cv-4949 (N.D. Cal., Nov. 7, 2014).

3. 15 U.S.C. § 18a.
4. See Palmer v. BRG of Ga., Inc., 498 U.S. 46, 49 

(1990) (applying the Sherman Act’s per se rule 
to horizontal market allocations between com-
petitors); National Collegiate Athletic Ass’n v. 
Board of Regents, 468 U.S. 85, 100 (1984) (hold-
ing that agreements to reduce output will nor-
mally violate the Sherman Act’s per se rule).

5. The last use of disgorgement by DOJ in a 
Sherman Act case occurred in United States 
v. Keyspan Corp., 763 F. Supp. 2d 633, 638–41 
(S.D.N.Y. 2011) (holding the government may 
seek disgorgement in antitrust suits under the 
Sherman Act). See Barry Nigro and Maria Cirin-
cione, “DOJ Orders Financial Services Firm to 
Disgorge Profits From Derivative Contract.”

6. Competitive Impact Statement at 11, United 
States v. Flakeboard Am. DOJ added that “no 
other remedy would be as effective to fulfill the 
goal of the Sherman Act to ‘prevent and restrain’ 
antitrust violations.” Id. (quoting 15 U.S.C. § 4). 

7. Provisions affecting how the parties operate 
the business between signing and closing typi-
cally appear in the interim covenants, although 
they sometimes are also found in the provisions 
governing the definition of a material adverse 
effect, representations and warranties, and 
closing conditions.
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The Cayman Islands have a variety of proce-
dures which can be used to streamline the re-or-
ganisation, merger or acquisition of a company, 

each of which may be used to cram down, or lock 
out, minority equity holders of a company. Al-
though various protections do exist, the different 
procedures may enable those interested in seeing 
the lock out implemented effectively to select the 
process that provides them with the best prospect 
of success. Conversely, some minority interest 
holders may find the value of their shareholdings 
vary depending upon the process selected. This 
article explores the mechanisms available in the 
Cayman Islands that may be used by majority 
shareholders (Goliath) to lock out minority inter-
est holders (David) in a Cayman Islands company 
(Terebinth), as well as the protections available 
to David, and whether any steps may be taken by 
David to prevent a merger or to seek recourse for 
any perceived loss. The article refers to creditors 
but assumes no secured creditors in any scenario, 
from whom specific consent is usually required.

The Corporate Processes In the 
Cayman Islands

Under Cayman law, minority equity interest 
holders may be locked out in a number of differ-
ent ways under the Companies Law (2013 Revi-
sion) (the Law):

1. Pursuant to the takeover provisions under sec-
tion 88 of the Law (a Takeover). Goliath needs 
to achieve an acceptance level of 90% within 
a period of four months of any offer, and may 
then, subject to an application to the Court, 
give notice (the Takeover Notice) compulso-
rily to purchase the remainder of the shares in 
Terebinth from David on the same terms. 

2. By way of a Scheme of Arrangement under 
section 86 to 87 of the Law (a Scheme). Goli-
ath must convince the directors of Terebinth 
to put together a scheme proposing a form of 
reorganisation, which requires the approval 
of a majority in number representing 75% in 
value of respective classes of creditors and/or 
members (subdivided as appropriate) of Ter-
ebinth and the sanction of the Court. Subject 
to Goliath reaching this threshold, David will 
be bound by the terms of the scheme. 
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